# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83,254

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chilef Deputy Clerk

TURNBERRY ASSOCIATES,

Petitioner,

vs.

SERVICE STATION AID INC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida

NICOLAS A. MANZINI, ESQ.
MAIDENLY SOTUYO, ESQ.
MANZINI & STEVENS, P.A.
Courthouse Tower, Suite 2050
44 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
Telephone Number: (305) 577-9903

Attorneys for Petitioner

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner TURNBERRY ASSOCIATES will be referred to as "TURNBERRY." Respondent SERVICE STATION AID, INC. will be referred to as "SERVICE STATION."

The following symbols will be used:

- R. \_\_\_\_ Index to the Record on Appeal
- All emphasis is ours unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, which reversed the trial court's order vacating an arbitrator's award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION and remanded with directions for the trial court to confirm the arbitration award in this case. The facts giving rise to these proceedings are as follows:

On November 23, 1988, TURNBERRY, as owner, contracted with Ahrens Construction Development Inc. ("Ahrens"), as prime contractor, for the construction and installation of an underground fuel tank, fuel delivery system and monitoring well. (R. 3) Ahrens had previously entered into a sub-contract with SERVICE STATION in furtherance of its obligations to TURNBERRY. <u>Id</u>.

After the construction work was completed, TURNBERRY discovered several defects in the construction and installation of the underground fuel tank and fuel delivery system. (R. 4) On February 13, 1991, TURNBERRY filed a suit against Ahrens and SERVICE STATION alleging breach of contract, breach of warranty and negligence. (R. 2-92) On SERVICE STATION'S motion, the trial court then stayed the action and compelled arbitration in accordance with the contracts between the parties. (R. 279, 280-281).

At arbitration, TURNBERRY's claim against Ahrens and SERVICE STATION was denied. (R. 329-330). In the award, and pursuant to an alleged stipulation "of all the parties," the arbitrator retained jurisdiction to determine the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded to the prevailing parties. Id. TURNBERRY immediately

filed an application to modify or correct award of arbitrator directed at the potential liability of TURNBERRY to SERVICE STATION for attorney's fees. (R. 331-334). The arbitrator denied TURNBERRY'S application to modify or correct the award. (R. 342).

TURNBERRY then filed a motion to vacate or, in the alternative, to modify or correct arbitration award and an emergency motion to stay an upcoming hearing called by the arbitrator on the issue of attorney's fees. (R. 282-304). The trial court denied the emergency motion to stay at that time. (R.).

At the subsequent fee hearing, the arbitrator awarded attorney's fees incurred during the arbitration in favor of SERVICE STATION and against TURNBERRY in the amount of \$25,000.00 plus costs. (R. 361). The arbitrator's claimed authority to enter such an award of fees was based on an alleged "stipulation" between and among SERVICE STATION and TURNBERRY that the arbitrator award attorney's fees. <u>Id</u>.

TURNBERRY disputed the existence of any such stipulation with SERVICE STATION and renewed its motion in the trial court to vacate or, in the alternative, to modify the arbitration award of attorney's fees in favor of SERVICE STATION. (R. 319-345). After conducting a hearing at which it heard evidence and argument in the case, the trial court entered an order modifying the arbitration

TURNBERRY did not take issue with the arbitration award of attorney's fees in favor of Ahrens, as TURNBERRY's contract with Ahrens expressly provided for attorney's fees and TURNBERRY had already arrived at an agreement with Ahrens for the payment of these fees.

award, finding that there was no contractual relationship between TURNBERRY and SERVICE STATION which would entitle SERVICE STATION to an attorney's fee award from TURNBERRY. (R. 385-387). In its order, the trial court did not take issue with the arbitrator's testimony that counsel for the parties had stipulated to let him decide the issue of attorney's fees in general. Id. However, the trial court determined that the arbitrator's award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION was without foundation in law. Id. Specifically, the trial court found that there was neither contract nor statute authorizing an award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION. Id. Accordingly, the trial court vacated the arbitrator's award of attorney's fees in favor of SERVICE STATION, and SERVICE STATION appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida.

On appeal, the Third District reversed the trial court's order and remanded with directions that the trial court confirm the arbitration award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION. (R. 419-420). As grounds, the Third District found that the trial court had, "in effect, found, based on competent substantial evidence, that the parties stipulated that the arbitrator should decide the issue of attorney's fees in the case." Id. Furthermore, the Third District determined that the trial court had no authority to review the legal sufficiency of the arbitrator's award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION on the grounds that an arbitration award cannot be vacated based on the arbitrator's error of law. Id.

The Third District subsequently denied TURNBERRY's motion for rehearing and reconsideration of its decision and this appeal ensued. (R. 421).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal erroneously departs from the strict language of the Florida Arbitration Code, in Section 682.11, which prohibits arbitrators from awarding counsel fees incurred during arbitration. While the case law interpreting the statute does not prohibit a prevailing party in an arbitration from obtaining an award of attorney's fees, the law clearly provides that fee awards are to be realized only in the trial court upon application by the prevailing party for confirmation of the arbitral award. Here, the Third District has allowed the parties, by way of an alleged stipulation, to confer subject matter jurisdiction upon an arbitrator to decide attorney's fees, where such jurisdiction has been expressly removed in the statute.

Further, in upholding the arbitrator's award of attorney's fees in this manner, the Third District has placed the legal sufficiency of the arbitrator's fee award beyond the purview of the trial court. Arbitrators are usually chosen for their expertise in a particular field as well as the expedited nature of their decision-making. As such, parties are said to be bound by an arbitrator's decision on the merits, and courts are powerless to correct an arbitrators misinterpretation of facts or law.

However, attorney's fees have traditionally been reserved for the trial court's determination and are awardable only when subtended by contract or statute. Because of their lack of expertise in determining what a reasonable attorney's fee should be, arbitrators have historically been left out of the loop when it comes to determining entitlement to fees, as well as determining what a reasonable attorney's fee should be. In this case, the Third District has not only placed the issue of attorney's fees squarely within an arbitrator's dominion, but has determined that these may be awarded even in the absence of an applicable contract or statute and without recourse in the trial court. Such a ruling is inconsistent with the treatment traditionally afforded attorney's fees and the strict requirement that these be authorized by contract or statute.

Lastly, in the event that this Honorable Court upholds the ability of parties to confer jurisdiction upon an arbitrator to determine attorney's fees, and finds that the trial court is powerless to review an arbitrator's fee award, this Court should remand this case for a threshold factual determination by the trial court as to the existence of a stipulation between the parties. Notwithstanding the Third District's acceptance of an implied finding by the trial court, the trial court did not make a factual finding, based on competent substantial evidence, that a stipulation among the parties had occurred. The trial court never found any record evidence of an agreement between the parties to allow the arbitrator to determine attorney's fees. Rather, the

trial court merely refused to take issue with the arbitrator's recollection of such an agreement and, instead, modified the award based on the manifest error of the arbitrator in making the award.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Ι

THE ARBITRATION CODE IN SECTION 682.11 PROHIBITS ARBITRATORS FROM AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES, AND PARTIES CANNOT BY STIPULATION CONFER SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION UPON ARBITRATORS TO AWARD SUCH FEES.

The Florida Legislature has placed specific restrictions on an arbitrator's power and authority to determine claims for fees and expenses of arbitration after a determination on the merits. While arbitrators are empowered to award and determine their own fees and other expenses of arbitration, in Section 682.11 of the Florida Arbitration Code, the Legislature has specifically unequivocally excluded attorney's fees from the range of an Moreover, this explicit jurisdictional arbitrator's powers. limitation necessarily supersedes and invalidates any and all agreements of the parties to voluntarily submit the issue of attorney's fees for an arbitrator's determination. Thus, while an arbitrator's discretion in deciding those issues of law or fact correctly placed before him is nearly limitless, he is powerless to determine the issue of entitlement or amount of attorney's fees incurred during arbitration.

FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 682.11 EXPLICITLY REMOVES ATTORNEY'S FEES FROM THE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF ARBITRATORS.

It is well-settled that an arbitrator exceeds his or her power by going beyond the authority granted by statute, the parties or the operative documents and decides an issue not pertinent to the resolution of the issue submitted to arbitration. Applewhite v. Sheen Financial Resources, Inc., 608 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 4th DC 1992); Schnurmacher Holding, Inc. v. Noriega, 542 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 1989). Indeed, Florida Statute § 682.13 (1)(c) provides that an award shall be vacated when the arbitrator in the course of his jurisdiction exceeded his powers.

The Florida Arbitration Code, in §682.11<sup>2</sup>, outlines the scope of the arbitrator's power and jurisdiction to determine and make awards with respect to the fees and expenses of arbitration after a determination on the merits. According to Florida Statute \$682.11, and unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, the arbitrator may make an award for payment of his own fees and other expenses incurred during arbitration. However, on its face, this

This section provides in its entirety, "Unless otherwise provided in the agreement or provision for arbitration, the arbitrator's and umpire's expenses and fees, together with other expenses, not including counsel fees, incurred in the conduct of the arbitration, shall be paid as provided in the award. Fla. Stat. § 682.11. (emphasis added)

statute explicitly removes counsel fees incurred during arbitration from the range of arbitrable issues.<sup>3</sup>

The statutory reference to "counsel fees" is to remove it from the "other expenses" which may be awarded by the arbitrator. Thus, the purpose for including the phrase "not including counsel fees" is to modify and explain "expenses" and to make certain that attorney's fees remain outside the arbitrator's purview. Tassinari v. Loyer, 189 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). As such, the Florida Arbitration Code not only removes attorney's fee awards from the arbitrator's jurisdiction, but necessarily proscribes unilaterally conferring said subject from jurisdiction upon the arbitrator by agreement. Terex Trailer Corp. v. McIlwain, 579 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred by agreement of parties.); State of Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Schreiber, 561 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990)(subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon court by Constitution or statute, and cannot be created by waiver, acquiescence or agreement of the parties).

Thus, under Florida Statute §§ 682.11 and 682.13 (1)(2), an arbitral award of attorney's fees clearly is beyond the statutory

Given the broad latitude afforded arbitrators as to questions of law and fact involved in determining the merits of the issues before him, an arbitrator is instrumental only as to a determination of prevailing party which, in turn, is later considered in resolving the attorney's fee issue. However, determinations of entitlement under an operative statute or contract, and amount of attorney's fees, are beyond the range of arbitrable issues and must be determined by the trial court.

jurisdiction conferred upon an arbitrator by the Florida Legislature and must be vacated as a matter of law.

In the instant case, the trial court did not take issue with the arbitrator's contention that the parties had stipulated to allow the arbitrator to award attorney's fees, nor did the trial court take issue with the arbitrator's ability to assess and award such fees upon such an alleged stipulation. Instead, the trial court vacated that portion of the arbitration award which, contrary to the essential requirements of the law, awarded attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION where such fees had not been provided for by contract or statute.

The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order vacating the arbitration award of attorney's fees. In pertinent part, that court found that "the parties to an arbitration agreement may by stipulation confer jurisdiction on the arbitrator to decide entitlement to attorney's fees and to assess such fees." Service Station Aid, Inc. v. Turnberry Associates, 629 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993) (citing Pierce v. J.W. Charles-Bush Securities, Inc., 603 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)(en banc)). In so ruling, the court departed from the strict language in the Arbitration Code which prohibits an arbitrator's assessment and award of attorney's fees and from a long line of well-reasoned cases which proscribe arbitrator's from making attorney's fee awards.

DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OF THE SECOND DISTRICT PROSCRIBE AN ARBITRATOR'S AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES, AS THESE ARE ONLY RECOVERABLE IN THE TRIAL COURT UPON CONFIRMATION OF THE ARBITRATION AWARD.

In the case at hand, the Third District Court of Appeal also departed from those cases which hold that attorney's fees incurred during arbitration are only recoverable in the trial court upon confirmation of the arbitration award. In construing the effect of the limiting language in §682.11 of the Florida Arbitration Code, several courts, including this Court, have proscribed attorney's fee awards by arbitrators, as these have been held to be beyond the arbitrator's subject matter jurisdiction. Fridman v. Citicorp Real Estate, Inc., 596 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Higley South, Inc. v. Quality Engineered Installation, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D100 (Fla. 2d DCA January 5, 1994); Raymond James & Associates, Inc. v. Weineke, 556 So.2d 810 (Fla. 2d DCA 800); See also Lee v. Smith Barney, Harris Upham, 626 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)("The Florida Legislature has expressly provided that attorney's fees for time spent in arbitration are recoverable but only in the trial court upon a motion for confirmation or enforcement of the award."); B & H Construction & Supply Co. v. Tallahassee Community College, 542 So. 2d 382 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (arbitration panel is authorized to award all fees and costs, except attorney's fees.)

In <u>Insurance Co. of North America v. Acousti Engineering</u>

<u>Company of Florida</u>, 579 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1991), this Court approved and adopted the "thorough and well-reasoned" en banc opinion of the Second District in <u>Fewox v. McMerit Construction Co.</u>, 556 So. 2d

419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). In <u>Fewox</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal correctly construed the "not including counsel fees" clause in §682.11 of the Florida Statutes as prohibiting an arbitrator from including attorney's fees in his award of expenses and fees incurred during arbitration proceedings. That court stated:

"The Legislature apparently eliminated attorney's fees from the subject matter jurisdiction of arbitration because arbitrators are generally businessmen chosen for their expertise in the particular subject matter of the suit and have no expertise in determining what is a reasonable attorney's fees ... Thus, the intent of the statute is merely to prohibit arbitrators from awarding attorney's fees." Fewox, 556 So. 2d at 422. (citations omitted.)

Similarly, in <u>Higley South</u>, <u>Inc. v. Quality Engineered</u>
Installation, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D99 (Fla. 2d DCA January 5, 1994),
the court held that it is the trial court, and not the arbitrator,
who had the authority to determine both entitlement to and amount
of attorney's fees. In <u>Higley</u>, the appellants maintained, in part,
that on confirmation of the arbitration award, the trial court's
attorney's fee award was restricted by the language in the
arbitration award limiting attorney's fees to those "fees for legal
services necessary to prepare and present [appellee's] claim." <u>Id</u>.
at D100.

In rejecting the appellant's position, the Second District found that arbitrators have no authority to award attorney's fees.

Id. "We have held and continue to hold that it is the trial court which determines both entitlement to and amount of attorney's fees. Accordingly, the arbitration award did not limit the trial court's award of fees." Id.

of perhaps the greatest application here is the rule enunciated in the case of <u>Fridman v. Citicorp Real Estate</u>, 596 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). There, after the defendant/appellee refused to pay attorney's fees as agreed, the parties voluntarily submitted the matter of attorney's fees to binding arbitration. <u>Id</u>. 1129. The arbitration panel, which consisted of three attorneys, recommended that the plaintiff/appellant be awarded attorney's fees for services incurred both prior to and during arbitration. <u>Id</u>. On motion to confirm said award, the trial court determined that the arbitrators exceeded their authority in awarding fees for the arbitration and vacated the award. <u>Id</u>.

Thus, although the Second District agreed with the trial court that the arbitration panel exceeded its authority, it reversed on different grounds. <sup>4</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 1129-30.

The court in <u>Fridman</u> concluded that the language of Florida Statute §682.11 and this Court's holding in <u>Fewox</u> limited the subject matter jurisdiction of arbitration to exclude attorney's fee determinations from the realm of arbitrable issues. <u>Id</u> at 1129. <u>This was so even where the parties had submitted the question of attorney's fees to the arbitrators for their determination. Id.</u>

The <u>Fridman</u> court noted that one of the primary reasons for removing attorney's fees from the scope of an arbitrator's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Second District determined that after correctly concluding that the arbitrators exceeded their authority in awarding fees for arbitration, the trial court should have directed a rehearing on the matter. Fridman at 1129.

limited expertise of arbitrators in jurisdiction was the determining what is a reasonable attorney's fee. Id. While recognizing that this rationale did not necessarily apply in that case, where the three arbitrators were attorneys with some expertise in this area, the Fridman refused to carve out an exception of the limited subject matter jurisdiction of arbitrators as announced in Fewox. Id. In the instant case, the Third District found that an alleged stipulation between counsel for TURNBERRY and SERVICE STATION to submit the question of their attorney's fees to the arbitrator conferred jurisdiction upon the arbitrator to decide In doing so, the court ignored both the explicit this issue. limiting language of the applicable statute as well as the wellreasoned rule of law espoused by the Second District and this Court in various opinions. Indeed, the Third District here effectively acknowledged the ability of parties to an arbitration to confer, by agreement, subject matter jurisdiction upon the arbitrator where none had existed before, and where said subject matter jurisdiction had been explicitly removed by the statute. Further, in so ruling, the Third District has empowered arbitrators to delve into an area which, in Florida, has traditionally been reserved for the trial court.

II

ATTORNEY'S FEES INCURRED DURING ARBITRATION, RECOVERABLE ONLY UPON CONFIRMATION OF THE ARBITRATION AWARD, MUST ALWAYS BE GROUNDED IN CONTRACT OR STATUTE.

The Third District Court of Appeal erred when it reversed the

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