## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 83,254

TURNBERRY ASSOCIATES,

Petitioner,

vs.

SERVICE STATION AID, INC.,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHN KIRK McDONALD, ESQ. WILLIAM R. ROBBINS, ESQ. The Law Center 370 Minorca Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33134

and

JEANNE HEYWARD, ESQ. 300 Courthouse Plaza 28 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Phone No. (305) 358-6750 Fla. Bar No. 035812

# TOPICAL

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

Certainly, if a misinterpretation of a statute which is an error of law is not a valid ground for reversal of an arbitrator's award [Schnurmacher], then arbitrator's an interpretation of the contractual provisions and §57.105(2)[which incidentally is correct] also constitutes an award based on the facts and law which cannot be vacated merely because the trial court has a different interpretation of the contract provisions and the statute. To hold otherwise would be to ignore the longstanding principle of finality of arbitration and the fact that in order to preserve the integrity of the arbitration process the courts will not substitute their judgment for that of the arbitrators, Fraternal Order Of Police v. Miami, supra.

Without waiving any argument that the trial court's reversal of the attorney's fees award is prohibited by § 682.13 and <u>Schnurmacher</u> and, therefore, the District Court correctly reversed, SERVICE STATION submits that the arbitrator's award of

attorney's fees is correct on the merits and is supported by the contracts, pleadings and the statute:

CONTRACTS AND STATUTE SUPPORT AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO SERVICE STATION

I. SERVICE STATION was bound to AHRENS under the subcontract and to TURNBERRY under the prime contract. The contracts were interlocking.

SERVICE STATION'S subcontract with AHRENS provided:

- 1. <u>Contract Documents.</u>
- 1.1 The contract documents consist of this Agreement and any exhibits attached hereto, all contracts between the owner and Contractor regarding the work and all Addenda and modifications thereof; Instructions to Bidders, Drawings, Specifications, and all modifications and written change orders received prior and subsequent to the execution of this Agreement. These form the Subcontract and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof (R.162).

\* \* \*

1.4 Subcontractor assumes for the portion of the work covered by this contract, all obligations placed upon Contractor in the general contract, plans, specifications, and general conditions mentioned in the general contract, which documents are made a part hereof ... (R.162).

\* \* \*

12.2.4 General Notes Regarding Liability:

\* \* \*

(d) The Owner shall be included as an insured party (R.166).

\* \* \*

## 20. Indemnification

Subcontractor hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the ... owner ... from any and all claims, losses, damage ... arising out of the performance of this Agreement by the Subcontractor ... (R.168).

\* \* \*

26. <u>Attorney's Fees</u>, In the event of any litigation arising hereunder, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney's fees and costs (R.169).

#### \* \* \*

Therefore, the contract documents governing SERVICE STATION include the subcontract between AHRENS and SERVICE STATION and the prime contract between TURNBERRY and AHRENS. The interlocking provisions of the prime contract and subcontract provide a sound basis for the award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION as the prevailing party. This is based on the following:

SERVICE STATION assumed, for its portion of the work, the obligations set forth in its subcontract with AHRENS' and AHRENS' obligations to TURNBERRY set forth in the prime contract. The incorporation and assumption by SERVICE STATION of AHRENS' rights and duties under the prime contract to TURNBERRY provides the privity between them. SERVICE STATION was obligated to pay TURNBERRY attorney's fees [§1.1 and §26] which TURNBERRY may incur to enforce its rights under the prime contract and TURNBERRY was likewise obligated to pay attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION as prevailing party. This was undoubtedly the basis of TURNBERRY'S

complaint against SERVICE STATION which included a demand for attorney's fees.

TURNBERRY recognized the existence of these interlocking contracts and mutual duties which flowed from and between the prime contract and subcontract. TURNBERRY alleged in its complaint that it was an intended third-party beneficiary of the subcontract between AHRENS and SERVICE STATION, and it alleged that both AHRENS and SERVICE STATION, jointly and severally, breached their contracts (Count I), were negligent (Count II) and breached their warranty (Count III), and demanded attorney's fees, jointly and severally, from both defendants.

Having alleged that SERVICE STATION breached its contractual obligations to TURNBERRY, and that SERVICE STATION was liable to it for attorney's fees, it is inconsistent for TURNBERRY to now contend that there were no contractual obligations between TURNBERRY and SERVICE STATION and that it is not obligated to pay attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION as the prevailing party in accordance with its contract.

II. The obligation to pay attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION is also set forth in the prime contract which bound SERVICE STATION as well as AHRENS and TURNBERRY.

The prime contract between TURNBERRY and AHRENS provided:

## Subcontractual Relations

- 9.2 Any part of the Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor shall be pursuant to a written Subcontract between Contractor and the subcontractor, approved in writing by Owner prior to its execution and delivery...(R.34).
- 11.3 Owner's Right to Carry Out The Work and Contractor's Other Obligations.

If Contractor fails to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract or otherwise defaults in the performance of any provision of the Contract, Owner may, after five (5) days written notice to Contractor and without prejudice to any other remedy Owner may have, In such case make good such deficiencies. there shall be deducted from the Contract Sum then due Contractor, the cost of correcting deficiencies made necessary by such such default, neglect or failure (including but not limited to any and all attorneys fees and court costs incurred in connection therewith) ... (R.38).

\* \* \*

## 13.2.3

If Contractor fails to correct any such defective or non-conforming Work, Owner may correct it in accordance with paragraph 11.3. ... Owner may upon five (5) additional days' written notice, sell such Work at auction or at private sale and shall account for the net proceed thereof, after deducting all costs that should have been borne by Contractor (including but not limited to any and all attorneys fees and court costs incurred therewith...(R.41).

Thus, TURNBERRY was obligated to approve in writing the subcontract prior to its execution and delivery (9.2). Although the subcontract was entered into on August 23, 1988, it must of necessity have been reaffirmed or confirmed by TURNBERRY after the prime contract was signed on November 23, 1988. Therefore, the October 1, 1988 date in §57.105(2) has been satisfied.

If AHRENS, the contractor, failed to perform his work TURNBERRY could correct the deficiencies and charge AHRENS attorney's fees (11.3) and if AHRENS failed to correct defective or nonconforming work TURNBERRY could correct it and charge AHRENS with attorney's fees (13.2.3). SERVICE STATION assumed all of AHRENS' duties and obligations to TURNBERRY. Thus, SERVICE STATION stepped into the shoes of AHRENS and is now subrogated to AHRENS' rights. In the event of defective work performed by SERVICE STATION, it was obligated to pay TURNBERRY'S attorney's fees. Therefore, TURNBERRY is now obligated to pay attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION, as well as AHRENS, in accordance with the contracts and §57.105(2) which allows attorney's fees to a prevailing party even though the contract only provides attorney's fees to the other party.

TURNBERRY recognized that the prime contract and the subcontract were interlocking and bound all three parties to each other. Based on these contract provisions, TURNBERRY labeled itself as a third-party beneficiary of the subcontract and sought damages including attorney's fees for breach of contract, negligence and breach of warranty against SERVICE STATION. It also relied upon §57.105. It would be inconsistent for TURNBERRY to now contend it had no contractual relationship with SERVICE STATION and is not responsible for attorney's fees pursuant to the contract provisions above stated or §57.105(2). The rights, duties and

obligations are reciprocal -- a fact which TURNBERRY consistently travelled upon until it lost its claim in arbitration.

SERVICE STATION'S argument concerning interlocking or incorporating contracts is supported by Lord & Son Const. v. Roberts Elec. Contr., 624 So.2d 376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Lord & Son contracted with Gulf Coast to build a student service facility. Lord & Son then entered into a sub-contract with Roberts. The project was not completed because of various delays. The subcontractor Roberts filed suit against the general contractor Lord & Son for money lost. Lord & Son answered and filed a motion to compel arbitration. The trial court denied the motion on the ground that only the sub-contract was governed by the arbitration provisions.

On appeal from a final judgment based on a jury verdict the District Court held that the trial court erred in denying the motion for arbitration because the sub-contract unambiguously incorporated certain provisions of the general contract among which was the provision requiring arbitration. The sub-contract provided that Roberts was to:

> Furnish and install the items listed above, complete for an acceptable job, according to the contract documents for Student Services Facility and Natatorium, Gulf Coast Community College ...[e.s.]

The statement in the subcontract that the furnishing and installation of materials must be completed according to the contract documents including "Non-Technical Specifications A through J" acts as an incorporation of that document or those terms into the subcontract...In short, since the documents including "Non-Technical Specifications A through J" acts as an incorporation of that document or those terms into the subcontract...In short, since the subcontract must be completed according to Non-Technical Specification I, which in turn incorporates the "General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, AIA Document A201, 1987 Edition," which contains the arbitration provisions, the arbitration provisions of that document are incorporated into the subcontract.

By the same token SERVICE STATION'S sub-contract with AHRENS, which incorporated all of the contract between the owner TURNBERRY and the contractor AHRENS, had the effect of incorporating all the provisions of the prime contract into the sub-contract including TURNBERRY's obligation to pay SERVICE STATIONS's attorney's fees.

In summary, the prime contract and the subcontract were interlocking and the duties and obligations were binding on all parties. The obligations to perform under the prime contract between TURNBERRY and AHRENS were made a part of the subcontract so that SERVICE STATION was obligated to TURNBERRY in the same manner for performance of the work and attorney's fees that AHRENS was obligated to TURNBERRY under the prime contract. TURNBERRY treated it as a tri-party contractual relationship. Its complaint alleged breach of contract, negligence and breach of warranty and demanded attorney's fees against AHRENS and SERVICE STATION.

This incorporation of the rights and duties between SERVICE STATION and TURNBERRY provides the privity between them and overcomes any objection that the subcontract was signed before the October 1, 1988 date in §57.105(2). SERVICE STATION'S obligation

to pay attorney's fees to TURNBERRY as the prevailing party carried with it TURNBERRY'S reciprocal obligation to pay attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION as the prevailing party in accordance with the contract documents and §57.105(2). The provision works both ways. It must be noted that a review of the merits of an arbitration award is prohibited by § 682.13. However, assuming arguendo, a review were allowed, it is obvious that the award of attorney's fees is supported by the contracts and § 57.105(2).

# PETITIONER'S ADDITIONAL ARGUMENTS ANSWERED AND REFUTED

TURNBERRY argues that the District Court erred when it reversed the trial court's order vacating the arbitration award on the ground that the trial court had no authority to vacate the arbitration award. TURNBERRY argues that the trial court has the ability to review the legal sufficiency of the award (Page 14 of TURNBERRY's brief).

This argument was answered in <u>Schnurmacher</u> which held that § 682.13(1) sets forth the only grounds for vacating an arbitrator's award. The statute specifically provides that an arbitrator's award cannot be set aside for mere errors of judgment either as to law or the facts.

## Schnurmacher then held:

The reasons underlying the need for finality of arbitration awards were expressed in <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. Wells</u>, 72 Fla. 290, 297; 73 So. 188, 190-91 (1916):

The reason for the high degree of conclusiveness which attaches to an award made by arbitrators is that the parties have by agreement substituted a tribunal of their own choosing for the one provided and established by law, to the end that the expense usually incurred by litigation may be avoided and the cause speedily and finally determined. To permit the dissatisfied party to set aside the award and invoke the judgment of the court upon the merits of the cause would be to render it merely a step in the settlement of the controversy, instead of a final determination of it.

These reasons articulated by this Court over seventy years ago, remain relevant under today's arbitration legislation. As petitioner notes, the finality and enforceable nature of an arbitration award is a characteristic of arbitration that distinguishes it from other то forms of alternative dispute resolution. allow judicial review of the merits of an arbitration award for any reasons other than stated in section 682.13(1) would those undermine the purpose of settling disputes through arbitration. We find it incumbent to adhere to the long-standing principle of finality of arbitration awards in order to preserve the integrity of the arbitration process as a means of alternative dispute resolution.

TURNBERRY argues that the record "evidences a lack of contractual or statutory predicate for an attorney's fee award as between TURNBERRY and SERVICE STATION" (Pages 14-17). This has been effectively answered and refuted by SERVICE STATIONS's argument on Pages 16 to 23.

TURNBERRY'S reliance on the arbitrator's statement that there was no contract between SERVICE STATION and TURNBERRY (Page

18) overlooks the fact that the arbitrator was uncertain as to the basis of his award because he did not have his notes (Page 11 of January 13, 1993 hearing). However, all the contract documents establish that the SERVICE STATION-AHRENS subcontract incorporated the TURNBERRY-AHRENS prime contract; under the prime contract AHRENS was liable to TURNBERRY for attorneys' fees; and under the subcontract all the obligations placed upon AHRENS in the prime contract including the obligation to pay attorneys' fees were also assumed by SERVICE STATION. Thus, since AHRENS was liable for attorney's fees by virtue of the prime contract and TURNBERRY was liable for attorneys' fees, by virtue of the contracts and § 57.105(2), SERVICE STATION, who assumed AHRENS' duties and obligations, was also liable for attorneys' fees to TURNBERRY in the event it had been the prevailing party. Thus, when SERVICE STATION prevailed it was likewise entitled to an award of attorney's fees by virtue of the contracts and § 57.105(2). This was the basis for the award of attorney's fees to SERVICE STATION.

TURNBERRY's statement that the attorney's fee clause in the TURNBERRY/AHRENS contract provided for an award of reasonable attorney's fees to the prevailing party as between TURNBERRY and AHRENS only (Page 19) conveniently overlooks:

(a) The SERVICE STATION/AHRENS subcontract incorporated the TURNBERRY/AHRENS prime contract;

(b) SERVICE STATION was required to assume all the obligations of AHRENS in the prime contract;

(c) SERVICE STATION was required to include TURNBERRY as an insured under its liability policy;

(d) SERVICE STATION was required to indemnify and hold harmless the owner from all claims;

(e) In the event of any litigation hereunder, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover attorney's fees. This included TURNBERRY/AHRENS/and SERVICE STATION;

(f) TURNBERRY labeled itself as an intended third party beneficiary of SERVICE STATION's subcontract with AHRENS and;

(g) TURNBERRY sought attorney's fees from SERVICE STATION pursuant to the contracts and § 57.105.

TURNBERRY's argument that the TURNBERRY/AHRENS contract was not in existence when the AHRENS/SERVICE STATION contract was executed is immaterial (Pages 21-23).

The sole purpose of the AHRENS-SERVICE STATION subcontract was to perform the TURNBERRY-AHRENS prime contract. This is the reason AHRENS required SERVICE STATION to incorporate the TURNBERRY-AHRENS prime contract into the subcontract and required SERVICE STATION to assume all the obligations and duties placed upon AHRENS to TURNBERRY in the prime contract.

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